FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
8/10/2020 4:18 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/11/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>98876-5</u> Court of Appeals No. 81367-6-I Originally No. 52814-2-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
In re the Detention of:
Darren Perkins.
PETITION FOR REVIEW

LILA J. SILVERSTEIN Attorney for Petitioner Darren Perkins

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711
lila@washapp.org
wapofficemail@washapp.org

C.	ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW			
D.	ST	ATEMENT OF THE CASE	. 2	
E.	AR	GUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED	. 5	
	agr evi	This case presents a recurring issue that the State and Mr. Perkins agree is of general public interest and importance: whether evidence of relative risk is irrelevant, prejudicial, and inadmissible in civil commitment trials.		
	1.	Mr. Perkins moved to exclude evidence of relative risk because it is irrelevant and prejudicial	5	
	2.	The court denied the motion and the jury heard this irrelevant and highly prejudicial testimony	10	
	3.	The question for the jury is one of absolute risk, not relative risk, and the latter number merely serves as a scare tactic leading to permanent incarceration of individuals for legally erroneous reasons	15	
F.	CONCLUSION			

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Supreme Court Cases				
In re Detention of Brooks, 145 Wn.2d 275, 36 P.3d 1034 (2001) 4, 16				
In re Detention of Post, 170 Wn.2d 302, 241 P.3d 1234 (2010) 15, 17, 18				
In re Detention of Thorell, 149 Wn.2d 724, 72 P.3d 708 (2003) 15, 19				
Washington Court of Appeals Cases				
State v. Maule, 35 Wn. App. 287, 667 P.2d 96 (1983)				
Cases from Other Jurisdictions				
Does #1-5 v. Snyder, 834 F.3d 696 (6th Cir. 2016)				
St. A. A.				
Statutes 2.7.15				
RCW 71.09.020				
RCW 71.09.060				
Rules				
ER 402				
ER 403				
RAP 13.4(b)				
Other Authorities				
Vernon L. Quinsey et al., Violent Offenders: Appraising and Managing Risk (1998)				

A. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

Darren Perkins was the victim of repeated sexual molestation and rape when he was a child. He eventually committed a sexually violent offense himself, along with some other crimes. While he was serving his sentence for his last crime, committed in 2004, the State petitioned for his indefinite incarceration under RCW ch. 71.09.

The State may not continue to confine a person unless it proves he has a mental abnormality or personality disorder that makes him *more likely than not* to reoffend if not confined. The actuarial instruments for sex offenses indicate that most sex offenders are less than 50% likely to reoffend and that Mr. Perkins fell into a category that was less than 50% likely to reoffend. But over Mr. Perkins's thorough objections, the State introduced testimony and argument that Mr. Perkins's was in the 98th or 99th percentile of risk *relative to other sex offenders*.

The trial court erred in admitting this irrelevant and highly prejudicial evidence, but the Court of Appeals affirmed. The State moved to publish the opinion because the issue is of "general public interest and importance." The court denied the motion, but Mr. Perkins agrees with the State that this issue is one of substantial public interest. It is fundamentally unfair to incarcerate human beings indefinitely using utterly irrelevant scare tactics. This Court should grant review.

B. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW</u>

Darren Perkins, through his attorney, Lila J. Silverstein, asks this Court to review the opinion of the Court of Appeals in *In re the Detention of Perkins*, No. 81367-6-I. The court filed its opinion on June 15, 2020 and denied the State's motion to publish on July 13, 2020. These rulings are attached as appendices.

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Irrelevant evidence is not admissible and even evidence that is relevant is not admissible if it is substantially more prejudicial than probative. In a commitment proceeding under RCW ch. 71.09, the jury must determine whether an individual is more likely than not to reoffend if not confined. In other words, the question is whether the person is more than 50% likely to reoffend – not whether he is more likely to reoffend than other sex offenders.

Must courts exclude evidence of relative risk in civil commitment trials? And should this Court grant review where the State and Mr. Perkins agree the issue is one of general public interest and importance?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Darren Perkins is a child sex abuse victim. RP (9/24/18) 640-46, 717; CP 33. State's expert Dr. Harry Goldberg reported that "at age 5,

Darren was a repeated victim of child molestation and rape." CP 33. In addition to being directly raped, he "was forced to perform oral sex on an individual's female cousin, age 14, who was tied up in a tent." CP 46. This trauma was exacerbated by the deaths of two of his three sisters at a very young age. CP 30-31; RP (9/24/18) 717.

Counseling was recommended, but young Darren received very little therapy because his family could not afford it. CP 31, 40; RP (9/24/18) 645-46. He started acting out, and was eventually convicted of one sexually violent offense himself, as well as two sex offenses and some non-sex offenses. CP 3-7. His actions mirrored what was done to him as a child. CP 46.

Mr. Perkins's last sex offense occurred in 2004. CP 12. While he was still incarcerated for that offense, the State filed a petition to commit him as a "sexually violent predator" ("SVP") pursuant to RCW ch. 71.09. CP 1-2. In order for Mr. Perkins to be incarcerated under this statute, the State had to prove to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Perkins had a mental abnormality or personality disorder that rendered him more likely than not to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined. RCW 71.09.060; RCW 71.09.020(18). State's expert Dr. Goldberg evaluated Mr. Perkins and concluded he met the criteria, while

Mr. Perkins's expert Dr. Paul Spizman evaluated Mr. Perkins and concluded he did not. Exs. 50, 53.

Prior to trial, Mr. Perkins moved to exclude any testimony about Mr. Perkins's risk relative to other sex offenders, because such evidence was irrelevant and substantially more prejudicial than probative. CP 250; RP (9/17/18) 75-103; RP (9/25/18) 850-97. The court denied the motion, and the State repeatedly emphasized that the actuarial instruments showed Mr. Perkins was in the 98th or 99th percentile of risk relative to other sex offenders. RP (9/25/18) 892-97; RP (9/26/18) 910-13, 934; RP (10/2/18) 1550-51; RP (10/3/18) 1741.

Those same instruments showed that most sex offenders were less than 50% likely to reoffend and Mr. Perkins fell into a category that was less than 50% likely to reoffend. Ex. 50 at 22; RP (9/26/18) 911, 915. The question for the jury in a commitment case is whether the individual is more than 50% likely to reoffend. *In re Detention of Brooks*, 145 Wn.2d 275, 298, 36 P.3d 1034 (2001). But having heard that Mr. Perkins was in the 98th or 99th percentile of risk relative to other sex offenders, the jury found Mr. Perkins met the criteria for commitment. CP 796-98.

The Court of Appeals affirmed. App. A.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This case presents a recurring issue that the State and Mr. Perkins agree is of general public interest and importance: whether evidence of relative risk is irrelevant, prejudicial, and inadmissible in civil commitment trials.

Civil commitment is a massive curtailment of liberty and the people subject to commitment petitions have already served sentences for their crimes. Accordingly, the State may not continue to confine a person unless it proves he has a mental abnormality or personality disorder that makes him *more likely than not* to reoffend if not confined. But State's witnesses have been scaring juries with statistics regarding individuals' risk *relative to other sex offenders*, which is irrelevant to the statutory question the jury must answer.

Trial courts and the Court of Appeals have repeatedly addressed this issue, but this Court has not yet weighed in. This Court should do so now. As the prosecution stated, this issue "is of general public interest and importance." Motion to Publish at 1. This Court should grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4).

1. Mr. Perkins moved to exclude evidence of relative risk because it is irrelevant and prejudicial.

State's witness Dr. Goldberg misunderstood the law, repeatedly claiming relative risk was relevant because his "understanding of the law

was that the intent was to segregate those offenders who are the most risky. That's what the percentile rank does." Because this view is legally wrong, the trial court erred in deferring to the expert and admitting this irrelevant, highly prejudicial evidence.

In his evaluations, Dr. Goldberg opined that Mr. Perkins was more likely than not to reoffend if not confined to a secure facility. RP (9/26/18) 936; CP 50, 74; ex. 50 at 21. The actuarial instruments did not so indicate – they resulted in predictions of less than a 50% likelihood of sexual reoffense within five years. Ex. 50 at 22; RP (9/26/18) 911, 915 (In his report and testimony Dr. Goldberg states that Static-99R shows 35.1% likelihood of reoffense in five years and Static-2002R predicts 43.7% likelihood of reoffense in five years). And Dr. Goldberg acknowledged that once a person "stays in the community for five years without reoffending," that person's risk "actually drops" even further. RP (9/26/18) 1066.

But Dr. Goldberg insisted that in his clinical judgment, after assessing "protective factors" and "dynamic risk factors," Mr. Perkins met the criteria for indefinite confinement. RP (9/26/18) 926-36; CP 55; ex. 50 at 22-28. Although Mr. Perkins's expert, Dr. Spizman, disagreed with this

¹ According to Dr. Goldberg, the two other instruments whose scores he reported, the SORAG and VRAG-R, "were somewhat higher since this is predicting both sexual and non-sexual violence." Ex. 50 at 22.

assessment, Mr. Perkins did not move to exclude Dr. Goldberg's testimony about these factors.

However, he did move to exclude testimony about another portion of Dr. Goldberg's report: Mr. Perkins's "relative risk" of reoffense. CP 250. Dr. Goldberg indicated that with a Static-99 score of 8, Mr. Perkins was "within the high range for sexual reoffense when compared to other sexual offenders." CP 51. Specifically, "[r]ecidivism rates for sex offenders with the same score as Mr. Perkins are expected to be 4.96 times higher than the recidivism rates of the typical sex offender[.]" CP 51.

Mr. Perkins' Static-99-R score of 8 falls within the 97.8 to 99.1 percentile. This means that 97.8 to 99.1% of sex offenders in that sample scored at or below Mr. Perkins' score. Conversely, 0.9 to 2.2% scored higher.

CP 51.

Mr. Perkins moved to exclude testimony regarding his risk relative to other sex offenders because it was irrelevant and unduly prejudicial. CP 250. He explained:

The RCW 71.09 statutory scheme is concerned with absolute risk, i.e., whether the risk exceeds 50% that an individual will commit "predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined to a secure facility." RCW 71.09.020(18). In contrast, relative risks looks at the ranking among sex offenders, i.e., whether one sex offender's risk is greater than other sex offenders and if so, how much greater.

This case is about absolute risk. The SVP law seeks to incarcerate only those who are *likely* to commit acts of

sexual violence. It does not, for example, seek to incarcerate the upper ten percent of offenders at any given time. As a result, relative risk estimates and considerations are not relevant, and should be excluded pursuant to ER 402 and ER 403.

CP 250 (Motion in Limine B).

"Legally, what this 'more likely than not' has been interpreted as is, does the person have more than a 50 percent chance to reoffend in a sexually predatory way?" RP (9/17/18) 83. Counsel explained:

The problem with relative ranking is this: What relative ranking says is, well, somebody who scores as much as -- he is in the top ten percent most dangerous among the sex offenders. For example, he is like 95th percentile in the dangerousness among the sex offenders.

The problem doing that is that the jurors have a preconceived notion that sex offenders are dangerous. Absolutely dangerous regardless of what the science and the research says. On top of that, we add fuel to that fire by saying, well, he is in the 99th percentile of dangerous sex offenders without providing the context.

RP (9/17/18) 84-85.

Mr. Perkins explained by analogy that if the question for the jury were whether someone was a certain minimum height, then a person's height relative to others in a group would be meaningless. RP (9/17/18) 85. For instance, if a person were the tallest among a group of five, he would be in the top 20 percentile, but that information "does not add any value whatsoever" if the question is whether he is six-foot, seven inches.

Id. Thus, Mr. Perkins argued, relative risk "is not relevant" and should be excluded under ER 402 and ER 403. RP (9/17/18) 85-86.

THE COURT: He's in the top 20 or even five percentile of the sample, but he still isn't over six-foot, seven.

MR. CHANG: Correct.

RP (9/17/18) 89.

Although the court understood the point, it believed relative risk should still be admissible if the experts relied on it. RP (9/17/18) 89. But Mr. Perkins explained that the reason practitioners report relative risk numbers is simply because they are more stable, not because they are relevant to the question at issue in civil commitment trials. RP (9/17/18) 90. He explained that the purpose of the instrument and the reason for reporting relative risk was not for use in this context but for use in determining resource allocation. *Id.* The exhibit the State submitted as an offer of proof supported this statement: "For many decisions, relative risk ranking is sufficient (e.g., provide high intensity supervision to the top 20% of sex offenders)." Ex. 1 on offer of proof at 30.

The court asked the State how relative risk was relevant to Dr. Goldberg's opinion. RP (9/17/18) 93. The State ultimately said that the relative risk ratio was one data point contributing to the clinical judgment about a person's risk. RP (9/17/18) 94. The court indicated that if Dr.

Goldberg "is going to testify that this was relevant and this is part of what made his opinion, then it seems to me that makes it relevant." RP (9/17/18) 97. Mr. Perkins again argued it was not relevant, and again clarified that he was not objecting to testimony about dynamic risk factors or other tools that "add something" to the analysis. RP (9/17/18) 98. But the relative risk numbers added nothing relevant to the analysis and are extremely prejudicial. RP (9/17/18) 99-102.

2. The court denied the motion and the jury heard this irrelevant and highly prejudicial testimony.

The court denied the motion on the basis that it was within "the realm of the expert," but noted it would reconsider if the expert himself said "it doesn't really play into his opinion[.]" RP (9/17/18) 102-03.

Before Dr. Goldberg testified about relative risk, the parties and the court again discussed the issue outside the presence of the jury. RP (9/25/18) 850-97. Dr. Goldberg explained that the absolute risk number derived from a person's Static-99R score is not necessarily that individual's likelihood of reoffense; rather, it is the percentage of people within a group who will likely reoffend within the time period. RP (9/25/18) 854. For instance, 35% of people who score an 8 on the Static-99R are likely to reoffend within five years. *See id.*; ex. 50 at 22 ("One must also keep in mind that these percentages represent group rates. In

other words, Mr. Perkins falls within a group that has these levels of recidivism risk."). The corollary is that 65% of the group will not reoffend. *See id*.

But Dr. Goldberg explained he does not look only at the Static-99R recidivism risk levels. He also claimed that in looking at "all of the numbers" he reviews not just the "absolute risk numbers" but also the "relative risk numbers." RP (9/25/18) 855. He again emphasized the stability of the latter relative to the former, without explaining why this stability rendered the number relevant to the civil commitment context. RP (9/25/18) 856-59; *see also* ex. 1 on offer of proof.

Dr. Goldberg admitted that a person's percentile ranking gives no information about absolute value. RP (9/25/18) 868, 870.

[Q:] Among a group of 100 men, if I were to tell that you the person has 85th percentile rank in their height, that means that 85 men of the group are shorter than that person? A. Actually, it is 84. Q. 84, right. A. That's fine, yes. Q. Sure. Given that information, ... Doctor, can you tell me whether you are taller than five-foot, six? A. No, I cannot. Q. Not at all, correct? A. No.

RP (9/25/18) 868.

Later, when pressed, he again failed to explain the relevance of the percentile rank, simply stating "I do think it is informative":

Q. This is the million-dollar question: What does this percentile, which is associated with a particular number of the score add to your opinion regarding his individual risk

level? A. I do think it is informative in that -- the way that I see, as evaluators, as long as we explain it to the jury, 99.1 percent -- it doesn't mean that he has 99 percent chance of reoffending. That is not what the jury should understand, but I think it is informative.

RP (9/25/18) 876. Dr. Goldberg then admitted, "As I see it, as evaluators, we are asking to segregate those individuals amongst the group of sex offenders who are the riskiest types." RP (9/25/18) 876 (emphasis added).

Mr. Perkins correctly explained that although Dr. Goldberg may "see it" as his job to segregate sex offenders who are riskier than other sex offenders, this viewpoint is wrong as a matter of law and misrepresents the question the jury decides. A person may be indefinitely confined only if he is more likely than not to reoffend – not if he is more likely to reoffend than other sex offenders. RP (9/25/18) 882-83. Dr. Goldberg could not explain the relevance of the percentile to the question the statute requires the jury to consider. *See also* RP (9/25/18) 877 ("[T]he percentile tells me that he is so much higher risk than other sex offenders in general.").

Throughout the offer of proof, Dr. Goldberg failed to elucidate the relevance of the relative risk percentile to the question at issue in civil commitment proceedings. He simply repeated his mantra that this number was "consistent" and "informative" and persisted in mischaracterizing the issue before the jury in RCW 71.09 trials: "It informs me that – my understanding of the law was that the intent was to segregate those

offenders who are the most risky. That's what the percentile rank does." RP (9/25/18) 883-84.

The court nevertheless permitted the testimony on the basis that Dr. Goldberg stated the relative risk number was something experts consider. RP (9/25/18) 892-97.

Thus, Dr. Goldberg told the jury that on the Static-99R, Mr. Perkins was in the "well above average risk" category and that "compare[d] with other sexual offenders" Mr. Perkins's "relative risk number" was "99.1 percent." RP (9/26/18) 910, 912. "Compared to other sex offenders, he is in the 99 percentile. In other words, he is more risky in a 99 percentile compared to other sex offenders." RP (9/26/18) 913; *see also* RP (9/26/18) 916 (on Static-2002R, "Compared to other offenders, he is in the 98th percentile with his score"). He even misled the jury when talking about the only relevant number, which was absolute risk: "As far as the absolute risk, they all give him some fairly *relatively high* numbers." RP (9/26/18) 934.

The prosecutor was also permitted to imply that relative risk was relevant when cross-examining Dr. Spizman, and to wrongly imply that Dr. Spizman was a shill for Mr. Perkins who was ignoring the science.

Presumably understanding the overwhelming impact these misleading

numbers would have on the jury, the prosecutor saved this discussion for the end of cross-examination:

- Q. And a score of 98 percentile doesn't meet the risk prong.
- A. Let's not say 98 percentile. That's misleading. 35 percent risk of reoffense.
- Q. 35 percent recidivism rate, right? You are right. It is misleading. I'm going to return your attention to Exhibit 71. That is the prior identified "Evaluator's Handbook"? The score of eight is the 99th percentile, not the 98, right?
- A. Well, again, what you are talking about is a completely different situation here than what we are addressing.
- Q. It is data point, is it not?
- A. It is noise.
- Q. It is a data point that you ignore despite the admonitions of the developers of the instrument in that 2016 paper that we spent so much time on?
- A. I don't ignore it. I don't believe it is appropriate to report in this instance.
- Q. You called it noise, right?
- A. In this particular proceeding where it is not relevant to the question at hand and can be confusing and misleading, yes.
- Q. Okay. That means in every case like this, it is noise?
- A. I believe it is potentially misleading and could be more misleading than valuable. Absolutely.

RP (10/2/18) 1550-51.

In closing argument, while purporting to acknowledge that the percentile ranking "is not the question that you are asked to answer[,]" the prosecutor told the jury that this percentile ranking "does suggest that ... he is one of the riskiest people there is." RP (10/3/18) 1741.

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