# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/14/2020 9:07 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 98876-5

#### WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

In re the Detention of:

DARREN PERKINS,

Petitioner,

v.

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

ELLIE PAGE Assistant Attorney General WSBA #53195/ OID #91094 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 521-5810

# **

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

#### IV. REASONS WHY THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

Perkins seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). This rule allows review if the petition "involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." This case does not meet that standard because it involves a routine evidentiary issue that the Court of Appeals has resolved in the State's favor in unpublished cases.

Contrary to Perkins's assertion, the State's motion to publish the Court of Appeals' decision in this case, attached as Appendix A, does not show that the issue merits this Court's review. As the State explained in its

motion, it requested publication, despite the case involving application of established law, because there exist only unpublished appellate cases on the issue. *See e.g.*, *In re Detention of Taylor*, 159 Wn. App. 1007 (2010) (holding, in part, that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by admitting evidence of Taylor's relative risk in his initial commitment trial). The State believed it would be helpful to have clarification in the form of a published Court of Appeals opinion because, despite the Court's unpublished opinions, the argument continues to be made in the trial courts. The State's motion does not signify the State's agreement that this routine evidentiary issue warrants yet another review, this time by our Supreme Court.

## A. The Trial Court Properly Admitted Evidence of Perkins's Risk Relative to Other Sex Offenders as Part of Dr. Goldberg's Comprehensive Risk Assessment

This petition fails to present an issue of substantial public interest because Perkins raises a routine evidentiary issue. Perkins challenges the relevance of Dr. Goldberg's relative risk testimony despite Dr. Goldberg's testimony that this evidence contributed to his extensive risk assessment on which he based his opinion that Perkins was likely to recidivate. In addition, Perkins does not challenge Dr. Goldberg's testimony that experts in the field commonly rely on relative risk estimates in forming their opinions on the issue. For these reasons, Perkins's relevancy challenge fails, and further guidance from this court is unnecessary.

Whether a person is likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility is a "more likely than not" standard. *In re Det. of Brooks*, 145 Wn.2d 275, 293, 36 P.3d 1034 (2001), *overruled on other grounds by In re Det. of Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d 724, 72 P.3d 708 (2003). "[T]he fact to be determined is not whether the defendant will reoffend, but whether the probability of the defendant's reoffending exceeds 50 percent." *Id.* at 298. Evidence is relevant to this determination if it has "any tendency" to prove or disprove a fact of consequence. ER 401.

At an initial commitment trial, the State typically presents a qualified forensic expert to provide an opinion on whether the person is more likely than not to recidivate based on an assessment of the person's risk. The components of this risk assessment are not delineated in statute or otherwise strictly defined. This Court has explained,

In greatly simplified terms, there are two broad approaches to conducting risk assessment: clinical judgment or actuarial assessment... The clinical approach requires evaluators to consider a wide range of risk factors and then form an overall opinion concerning future dangerousness. The actuarial approach evaluates a limited set of predictors and then combines these variables using a predetermined, numerical weighting system to determine future risk of reoffense which may be adjusted (or not) by expert evaluators considering potentially important factors not included in the actuarial measure.

Thorell, 148 Wn.2d at 753.

Here, Dr. Goldberg used both actuarial instruments and clinical judgment in conducting his risk assessment of Perkins. He testified that to determine whether a person is likely to reoffend,

[Y]ou look at all of the numbers. You look at the relative risk numbers. You look at the absolute risk numbers. You look at the dynamic factors, protective factors, and then you also look at the idiosyncratic aspects of each case, and then you come up with an estimate as to whether that person would be more likely than not.

RP (9/25/18) 855.

Dr. Goldberg testified about these factors in detail. He stated that the four static instruments he utilized provided estimates of absolute and relative risk. RP (9/26/18) 909-25. The static instruments measure absolute risk by providing a raw score that corresponds to five and ten or 12-year recidivism rates for similarly-scored sex offenders studied in meta-analysis. RP (9/26/18) 909-11, 915, 922. The raw score also enables him to determine a person's risk relative to other sex offenders. RP (9/26/18) 912. He offered the following absolute and relative risk estimates at trial:

Instrument	Raw Score	5 year (%)	12 year (%)	Relative Risk
				(%)
Static-99R	8	35.1		99.1
Static-2002R	9	43.7		98
SORAG	28	56	84	88
VRAG	24	58	78	87

RP (9/26/18) 909-25.

He testified that relative risk is a measure reasonably relied upon by experts in the field in forming opinions or inferences on whether a person is likely to recidivate. RP (9/25/18) 892. He made clear, however, that relative risk is distinct from absolute risk, emphasizing that Perkins's relative risk measure of 99.1 percent on the Static-99R "doesn't mean that he has a 99 percent [likelihood] of reoffending. That does not mean that." RP (9/26/18) 13. Instead, the relative risk data informed Dr. Goldberg's holistic risk assessment of Perkins by serving as a comparison point to allow Dr. Goldberg to determine where Perkins fell on the risk spectrum in relation to other sex offenders. RP (9/25/18) 883-84.

Next, Dr. Goldberg discussed his use of the SRA-FV and explained that it is comprised of three domains: sexual interest, relationship style, and self-management. RP (9/25/18) 834-25. Each domain is composed of subparts; for example, the sexual interest domain includes interest in children, interest in violence, and sexual preoccupation. RP (9/25/18) 834-25. He used a manual to score the various items or "psychological vulnerabilities" in the three domains and determined that Perkins was in the high risk/ high need category (9/25/18) 835-36; RP (9/26/18) 919-21. Dr. Goldberg also testified that based on Perkins's scores and corresponding percentile rankings on the PCL-R, "I don't conclude that he is a psychopath.

He didn't score in the very high range, but I know that he has significant antisocial personality traits." RP (9/26/18) 929.

In addition, Dr. Goldberg evaluated the following potentially mitigatory protective factors: whether Perkins was offense-free in the community, his age, and whether he completed treatment. RP (9/26/18) 927-28. Dr. Goldberg testified that only the treatment-related factor was a semi-protective factor for Perkins because though Perkins did well in DOC's sex offender treatment program, he reoffended when released to the community. RP (9/26/18) 928-30. Last, Dr. Goldberg noted that some of Perkins's documented behavior in the community was of "serious concern" and reflected a level of irresponsibility. RP (9/26/18) 928-30. For example, there were incidents where Perkins allegedly vandalized a vehicle, damaged an apartment he had lived in to the extent that the landlord wanted to file a civil suit, and two women accused him of inappropriate behavior related to stalking and threatening. RP (9/26/18) 931-32. Dr. Goldberg stated that he took note of behaviors that appeared antisocial, irresponsible, or aggressive. RP (9/26/18) 932.

He testified that assessing risk is a "complicated process" and no mathematical formula exists in which he can input all of these factors to receive an ultimate risk estimate. RP (9/26/18) 933-34. In opining on Perkins's risk of re-offense, he noted that all the instruments place Perkins

in the "high-risk category." RP (9/26/18) 934. He concluded that based on his comprehensive risk assessment, including the use of both actuarial instruments and clinical judgment, Perkins's Sexual Sadism Disorder makes him likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility. RP (9/26/18) 933-36.

Perkins repeatedly claims that Dr. Goldberg "misunderstood the law," because in explaining why relative risk was relevant to his determination that Perkins was likely to recidivate, Dr. Goldberg stated, "my understanding of the law was that the intent was to segregate those offenders who are the most risky. That's what the percentile rank does." Pet. Rev. 5-6, 11-13; RP (9/25/18) 883-84. Perkins takes this statement out of context.

Immediately before making that statement, Dr. Goldberg reiterated that the forensic question related to risk that he was tasked with answering concerned absolute risk and was whether Perkins is more than 50 percent likely to recidivate. RP (9/25/18) 882-83. Dr. Goldberg then proceeded to explain that a measure of relative risk is additional information that allows him to differentiate offenders with the same or similar raw score. RP (9/25/18) 883. He stated, for example, that he is not going to determine that every person with a raw score of three is likely to reoffend, and a measure of relative risk helps him differentiate among offenders to

determine which offenders are more risky. RP (9/25/18) 883. Moreover, relative risk "is the most stable statistic since the Static-99 has been developed," and "because it is more stable, it does inform [him], to help [him] make [his] decision." RP (9/25/18) 884. Dr. Goldberg's testimony makes clear that he understood that the ultimate question he was asked to opine on concerned absolute risk.

Perkins also relies on a height analogy that his trial counsel used in support of the argument that relative risk does not bear on risk assessment. His trial counsel proffered that if the question for the jury were whether someone was a certain minimum height, then a person's height relative to others in a group would be meaningless. RP (9/17/18) 85, 88-89. He stated, for example, if the question were whether someone was six-foot, seveninches tall, then evidence that the person was the tallest among a group of five would not be relevant. RP (9/17/18) 85, 88-89. This analogy misunderstands the nature of risk assessment. Dr. Goldberg reiterated that relative risk is not synonymous with absolute risk. Relative risk is merely a consideration that is relevant to the ultimate determination of absolute risk. If the issue were whether a person is more than 50 percent likely to be sixfoot, seven-inches tall, the fact that the person is in the top 20 percent of height relative to a group of people in a room would be relevant evidence, particularly in conjunction with other information that indicated the person

was tall. Evidence of relative risk was relevant to Dr. Goldberg's evaluation and helped the jury understand how Dr. Goldberg came to the conclusion that Perkins was likely to reoffend.

Last, Perkins cites In re Detention of Post, 170 Wn.2d 302, 241 P.3d 1234 (2010), to support his claim that relative risk evidence is irrelevant. This reliance is misplaced. In *Post*, the State introduced evidence of the treatment that would be available to Post at the SCC if he were committed and compared the recidivism rates of those who did and did not complete treatment in a secure facility. Post, 170 Wn.2d at 306-07. On appeal, the court held that treatment in which Post had not yet participated was inadmissible. Id. at 310. This Court agreed, noting that whether commitment would be more likely to prevent Post from committing another predatory act of sexual violence was not related to either question tried to the jury. *Id.* at 313-14. By contrast, here, the challenged evidence directly relates to one of the two questions tried to the jury. Dr. Goldberg testified that the relative risk figures contributed to his current risk assessment, which served as the basis of his opinion that Perkins was likely to reoffend at that time.

In short, the trial court properly resolved the routine evidentiary issue of whether testimony about relative risk is relevant, admissible evidence; Dr. Goldberg testified that Perkins's risk relative to other sex

offenders was part of his comprehensive risk assessment that helped inform his opinion that Perkins was likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility. And Dr. Goldberg stated that it is the type of evidence experts in the field rely on in forming their opinions in these cases. RP (9/25/18) 892. Consequently, the trial court correctly determined that this evidence was relevant and admissible.

# B. The Admission of Evidence of Relative Risk Was Not Unduly Prejudicial

This petition also fails to present an issue of substantial public interest because Dr. Goldberg's testimony about relative risk was not more prejudicial than probative, and accordingly, this Court need not review whether the trial court properly declined to exclude this evidence under ER 403.

In upholding the use of actuarial assessments to determine future dangerousness, this Court has recognized that "[t]estimony regarding the future dangerousness of SVPs, by its nature, is prejudicial. [However, t]he probative value of this testimony is high and directly relevant to whether an individual should be committed as a sexually violent predator." *Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d at 758. Perkins asserts two grounds to support his claim that evidence of relative risk is distinct from other types of evidence concerning future dangerousness that this Court has held satisfies ER 403. He claims that evidence of relative risk (1) would cause "any juror [to] do

nothing other than vote to commit" as the result of jurors' preconceived notions about sex offenders' dangerousness; and it (2) is similar to profile testimony the Court of Appeals deemed inadmissible in *State v. Maule*, 35 Wn. App. 287, 667 P.2d 96 (1983). Pet. Rev. at 18-19. These arguments fail because the jury's role is to judge the credibility and weight of the evidence, the trial court instructed the jury to decide the facts based on the evidence, and *Maule* is distinguishable.

"Judgment as to the credibility of witnesses and the weight of evidence is the exclusive function of the jury." *State v. Smith*, 31 Wn. App. 226, 228, 640 P.2d 25 (1982). A distinction exists between evidence that is unduly prejudicial and evidence the jury must weigh against other evidence. As the trial court stated, evidence of relative risk on which Dr. Goldberg relied in assessing Perkins's risk "is really more of a weight-versus-admissibility kind of thing." RP (9/17/18) 97. The jury heard ample evidence about the various components of Dr. Goldberg's risk assessment, a small portion of that being evidence of Perkins's relative risk. And Dr. Goldberg made clear that the relative risk percentiles were not a measure of absolute risk. The jury also heard Dr. Spizman's testimony that he believed evidence of relative risk was irrelevant in evaluating Perkins's absolute risk and considered it "noise." RP (10/2/18) 1550-51. As part of the deliberative process, the jury had the opportunity to weigh

Dr. Goldberg's relevant testimony about relative risk with Dr. Spizman's testimony that he believed evidence of relative risk was unrelated to the forensic questions at issue. In addition, the trial court instructed the jury to decide the facts based on the evidence presented at trial, not based on any personal beliefs, and instructed that the jury was not required to accept testifying experts' opinions. CP 773, 777. Courts presume that juries follow all instructions given. *State v. Stein*, 144 Wn.2d 236, 247, 27 P.3d 184 (2001).

Next, Perkins's reliance on *Maule* is misplaced. There, the jury found Maule guilty of statutory rape of his daughter and stepdaughter. *Maule*, 35 Wn. App. at 288, 291. On appeal, Maule challenged the admission of the State's expert's testimony that a majority of child abuse cases involved a male parent figure, with biological parents in the majority. *Id.* at 289-90, 292. The Court of Appeals held that admission of this testimony was reversible under ER 403 and its relevancy was "not discernible." *Id.* at 293. It explained that the evidence invited the jury to conclude that it was more likely Maule committed the crime because an expert with experience in child abuse cases identified Maule as belonging to a certain group that has committed a higher incidence of child sexual abuse. *Id.* Unlike in *Maule*, where the contested testimony was not discernably relevant to whether he committed the crimes charged and the

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